2007

# Linda Lee Hymas v. Labor Commission, SOS Stagging, Hyclone ,and Insurance Co,. of the State of Pennsylvania : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Supreme Court or Appellate Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3) and (6) and U.C.A. § 63-46b-16.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### **ISSUE I**

DID THE ALJ ABUSE HER DISCRETION WHEN SHE FAILED TO REFER THE MEDICAL CAUSATION EVIDENCE TO A MEDICAL PANEL, WHERE THE ISSUE WAS CONTESTED AND THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE TECHNICAL AND COMPLICATED.

**Standard of Review:** The Appellate Court reviews Administrative agency rulings, on interpretation of its statutorily granted powers and authority as a question of law, with no difference to the agency's view of the law. The correction-of-error standard will be applied and the agency's ruling upheld only if it was not erroneous. *Bevans v. Industrial Commission*, 790 P.2d 573 (Ut. Ct. App 1990); U.C.A. 63-46b-16(4) - Factual findings are reviewed on the standards of reasonableness and rationality under U.C.A. § 63-46b-16(4) as required.

### **ISSUE II**

DID THE ALJ ABUSE HER DISCRETION WHEN SHE FAILED TO CONTINUE THE CASE, ORDER THE APPOINTMENT OF IMPARTIAL MEDICAL EVALUATION, OR ALLOW PETITIONER HERSELF TO OBTAIN A MEDICAL REPORT FROM A CARDIOLOGIST WHEN JUST CAUSE WAS PRESENT TO DO SO.

**Standard of Review:** The Appellate Court reviews Administrative agency rulings, on interpretation of its statutorily granted powers and authority as a question of law, with no difference to the agency's view of the law. The correction-of-error standard will be applied and the agency's ruling upheld only if it was not erroneous. *Bevans v. Industrial Commission*, 790 P.2d 573 (Ut. Ct. App 1990); U.C.A. 63-46b-16(4) Factual findings are reviewed on the standards of reasonableness and rationality under U.C.A. § 63-46b-16(4) as required.

### **ISSUE III**

DID THE ALJ ABUSE HER DISCRETION WHEN SHE RULED SUA SPONTE, SIMILAR TO A DEFAULT JUDGMENT, WITHOUT HOLDING A HEARING OR ALLOWING WITNESSES TO TESTIFY REGARDING THE PHYSICAL EXERTIONS AT WORK WHICH CAUSED STRESS ON BILL HYMAS.

**Standard of Review:** The Appellate Court reviews Administrative agency rulings, on interpretation of its statutorily granted powers and authority as a question of law, with no difference to the agency's view of the law. The correction-of-error standard will be applied and the agency's ruling upheld only if it was not erroneous. *Bevans v. Industrial Commission*, 790 P.2d 573 (Ut. Ct. App 1990); U.C.A. 63-46b-16(4) Factual findings are reviewed on the standards of reasonableness and rationality under U.C.A. § 63-46b-16(4) as required.

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES,  
RULES AND REGULATIONS**

The full texts of the following determinative statutes and rules are reproduced at  
Addendum A.

- A. Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401
- B. Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-601
- C. Utah Code Annotated § 63-46b-16
- D. Administrative Rule 602-2-1
- E. Administrative Rule 602-2-2

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. Statement of and Nature of the Case.**

This case involves a widow's due process right to seek workers compensation benefits from the Worker's Compensation Fund or Employer's Independent Insurance for the death of her husband which happened at work. (See Claim for Dependents Benefits R001). The Employer and Insurance Company filed an answer denying any liability. (Legal and medical causation were also denied) (R023 to R026). A hearing was scheduled for October 25, 2006 before Administrative Law Judge Deidra Marlowe (hereafter "ALJ"). In preparation for the hearing, a pretrial disclosure form was filed by Respondent's denying legal or medical causation. (R028 to R029). A medical exhibit was submitted to the ALJ, but said medical exhibit left out the primary treating physician, Dr. Strong, records entirely. (R035, R106). Dr. Strong was Bill's treating doctor prior to Bill's death. The only medical

evidence relied on was an autopsy report done the day after Bill's death, without the benefit of a cardiologist present or any facts of physical exertion or idiopathic fall precipitating the heart attack. (R106-002 to R106-003A). The ALJ, without taking any evidence from the employees, employer, the widow, Linda Hymas, or statements made by her husband prior to death, or referring the case to a medical panel, issued sua sponte a decision from the bench denying the application for benefits claiming there was no medical link or causation shown, and issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the same day. (R036 to R039).

A Motion for Review was filed by Linda Hymas on November 22, 2006. (R040 to R059). The employer filed a Response to the Motion for Review on December 12, 2006. (R060 to R066). No hearing was held on these motions or additional evidence received and the Labor Commission issued an Order affirming the ALJ's decision on July 31, 2007. (R068 to R071). The Commission adopted the very same Findings of Fact as the ALJ. (R068). Mrs. Hymas filed another Motion to Reconsider on August 14, 2007. (R072 to R073). The employer/Respondent did not file any response. Linda filed supplemental evidence. (R077 to R081) An Order was entered denying said Motion on September 26, 2007. (R101-R103).

A Writ of Review or Notice of Appeal was filed on October 26, 2007, together with an Affidavit of Impecuniosity by Linda Hymas. (R104 to R105). Mediation occurred at the Appellate level, but was unsuccessful.

**B. Statement of Facts.**

1. William E. Hymas (“Bill”) was married to Linda Hymas for several years and worked primarily as a bus driver. (R044).

2. Bill was required to pass a doctor’s physical examination in order to maintain his commercial driver’s license for transporting the public. (R044). Dr. Strong was Bill’s primary physician. Bill’s physical exam revealed no concerns regarding high blood pressure, hypertension, or other heart disease, and he was appropriately managing a type II diabetic condition with non-insulin treatment. (R053-059, R079).

3. A DOT physical was performed at IHC Clinic on July 26, 2004. Section 5,6 and 8 of the physical exam was marked “no” about heart murmurs, extra sounds, and enlarged heart or pacemaker.” (R057). The medical examiner certificate said Bill was good to drive for the next two years between July 26, 2004 until July 26, 2006. (R058). Bill had been driving for Cache County Schools during that period of time. (R044).

4. Bill was a non-smoker and age 65. (R011, 015).

5. Bill sought additional work through SOS staffing and was assigned to work in freight and shipping at Hyclone in Logan, Utah on or about January 23, 2006. (R017).

6. The work at Hyclone required the employee to lift heavy freight eight hours a day. (R043, R077). Most of the other employees were much younger than Bill. (R044, R079). The week prior to Bill’s fatal heart attack, Bill had lifted and moved tons of freight, and was exhausted each night. (R043 to R 044). A co-employee at Hyclone told Bill’s

supervisor that this type of work was too much for Bill and to find other work more suitable for Bill. (R077).

7. On January 31, 2006, the day before Bill's death, during his eight hour shift at Hyclone, Bill lifted about 250 containers of product onto pallets. (R078). Each container weighted 100 to 250 pounds. Four of the employees would load the containers onto the pallet, and apparently during that day they moved close to 40,000 pounds of freight onto these pallets or 20 tons. (Unusual and extraordinary exertion). (R043 to R044).

8. When Bill came home from work on January 31, 2006, he came in the house, sat down in his rocking chair with his head between legs, huffing, puffing, and was short of breath. (R044, R078). He told his wife, Linda, that this job was too much for him and was the hardest job he had ever worked. (R077, R078). He said it was fast paced and he tried to keep up with the younger college-aged students with whom he worked, but was not having success. (R080). He said he was on his initial two week probationary period and intended to ask his supervisor to transfer him to another department more suitable as soon as the two weeks were up, which would have been after February 1, 2006. (R044, R077).

9. On February 1, 2006, Bill went to work and arrived at 8:55 a.m. (R043). He was asked to break down four or five large cardboard boxes and take them to the dumpster. (R014). The weight of these cardboard boxes was about ten pounds each. (R043). Apparently, Bill broke these cardboard boxes down, put them on a pallet jack to take them to the dumpster and then brought the pallet jack back to the warehouse. (R043).

10. Bill was working by himself, and apparently upon returning to the warehouse, he either suffered an idiopathic fall, (R001, R004, R014, R042, R046, R052, R079, R106-04), or an unexpected heart attack and fell to the floor, hitting his head (leaving a cut and large goose egg), with his glasses and hat being tossed several feet away. (R014, R079).

11. Bill was found by co-employees lying on the warehouse floor at about 9:15 a.m. and attempts to resuscitate him failed. (R014) He was pronounced dead at approximately 10:00 a.m. (R014).

12. The medical examiner, Dr. Leis, examined Bill on February 2, 2006 and determined that the cause of death was occlusive coronary artery disease involving at least one main artery that had ninety percent (90%) or greater occlusion, causing lack of blood flow to the heart, thus the heart attack. (R106-002). However, because the medical examiner was not informed about the extreme exertions Bill performed at work, he merely stated in a letter dated October 11, 2006:

“The effects of work-related stress may be a factor in an additional workload being placed upon the heart, depending upon a person’s adaptation to that stress. Signs of anxiety may be displayed. Psychologic manifestations may include high blood pressure or an increased heart rate. These latter events may increase the workload on the heart compounding the underlying atherosclerotic disease risk to the heart. Additional physical requirements in the workplace may also place additional demands of the heart.” (R106-3A).

The letter made it clear that the medical examiner had no information regarding Bill’s degree of stress at work or workloads, but obviously stated that heavy work exertions increase the risk of Bill having a heart attack. (R106-3A).

13. The emergency room note of February 1, 2006 stated:

“We did note that the patient had a small laceration on the back of his head. I was not sure if he fell and struck his head and became unresponsive at that point, or if he had sudden death and fell.”

Dr. Doug Plowman, M.D., Emergency Room Doctor. (R004).

The medical examiner did not review the head injury as a potential cause of death.

14. SOS and Hyclone both failed to produce any evidence that Bill did not die of an idiopathic fall or heart attack triggered by work exertion. (Absent in Record).

15. Dr. Jeff S. Strong, M.D. stated on September 19, 2005 in his medical examination notes:

“63-year-old male presenting today on follow up. He comes without any major new complaints. We planned to see him last fall, but that fell through. He has type II diabetes. No numbness in his feet or toes. He has not had any problems with any chest pain...He denies any difficulty with hypertension or chest pains... No problems with dizziness or falls.” (R053).

This report was not part of the first medical exhibit but added in the Motion to Reconsider. (R053).

16. Dr. Edward Leis, the medical examiner, clarified his autopsy report on January 7, 2008 by stating:

“I would agree that given the underlying disease process of vessel blockage in the heart, your husband would be more susceptible to having cardiac or heart related problems during the increased physical demands of the job he was working. I say this because with physical activity, such as repeated lifting of heavy boxes and freight, the heart rate goes up. This increases the demands of the heart muscle for blood flow and oxygen delivery to the tissues. In the

presence of blood vessel blockage, this increase in blood and oxygen will not be sufficient, resulting in an abnormal heart rhythm (or arrhythmia) or a heart attack and possible death. An arrhythmia will not be seen at autopsy because it is primarily an electrical event of the heart. The heart attack would require survival of a few hours following the event before early signs of injury could be seen in the heart muscle at autopsy.”

“The fact that your husband had ... abrasions and laceration to the back of his head supports a sudden cardiac event. This type of injury is frequently seen in our office in people that expire under similar circumstances. Unconsciousness is immediate and the individual falls, collapses without being able to protect themselves while going down.” (See Exhibit A attached).

This letter clarifies that physical exertion at work can trigger or precipitate a heart attack and Bill’s physical exertion is, more probable than not, the medical cause of Bill’s heart attack and the resulting death. However, the ALJ refused to examine any of the facts regarding Bill’s stress or workload or to submit this evidence to a medical panel, although asked to do so. (R045).

17. Two medical journals on the subject of “triggering of acute myocardial infarction by heavy physical exertion” are attached as a matter of public record. The article in the New England Journal of Medicine dated December 2, 1993 specifically held that about 80% of the cases involving a heart attack that occurred within one hour after an episode of physical exertion were triggered by it. The article specifically states:

“These conclusions and a limitation of increased risk to the hour after exertion may be useful in considering workers compensation and liability cases in which physical exertion preceded the onset of myocardial infarction.” (See Exhibit B attached).

Also, in an article through the American Medical Association dated in 1999, it was

concluded that in men who already have preexisting coronary disease, sudden death related to physical exertion was associated with acute plaque rupture in at least 68% of the cases. The study concluded that in men with severe coronary artery disease who die suddenly, acute exertion appears to be a main risk factor for plaque rupture, presumably by disruption of vulnerable plaque already existing in the artery, which plaque then flows to a blockage or narrow area and plugs the artery, causing the heart attack. (See Exhibit C attached). The American Heart Association has also published that heart attacks normally occur within 24 hours after physical exertion and often in the morning, with most victims clutching their chest and falling face forward (rather than on their back).

18. Had the ALJ heard the facts and transferred the case to a medical panel with the legal causation facts and physical exertions of Bill's work outlined, the medical causation factors could have been determined pursuant to Rule 602-2-2.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Appellate Court has the authority to grant relief from an agency's order if it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any agency action, particularly when the agency has not decided all of the issues requiring resolution; the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law; the agency has failed to follow prescribed procedure; or the agency action was an abuse of discretion delegated to the agency by statute, contrary to a rule of the agency, contrary to the agency's prior practice,

or otherwise arbitrary or capricious. See UCA § 63-46b-16(4). In this case, the Appellate Court should grant Plaintiff relief because of the following abuses in discretion by the Administrative Law Judge (hereafter “ALJ”).

A. The medical causation issue should have been submitted to the medical panel.

This case involves Linda’s claim for worker’s compensation benefits arising out of Bill’s employment for SOS and Hyclone wherein he suffered death by accident and his employer has denied liability. Rule 602-2-2 of the Administrative rules adopts mandatory guidelines for when the ALJ must utilize a medical panel. Subparagraph (a) states:

“A panel **will** be utilized by the administrative law judge where one or more **significant medical issues** may be involved. Significant medical issues are involved when there are:

1. **Conflicting medical opinions related to causation** of the injury or disease.”

This Court has ruled on several occasions that “where the evidence of a casual connection between the work-related event and the injury is **uncertain** or **highly technical**, (such as with the cause of an internal failure) failure to refer the case to a medical panel may be an **abuse of discretion**.” *Willardson vs. Ind. Comm. of Ut.*, 940 P.2d 671; 275 Utah Adv. Rep. 3; 1995 Utah Lexis 60 (Supreme Court of Utah Oct. 6, 1995); *Champion Homebuilders vs. Industrial Com.*, 703 P.2d 306, 308 (Utah 1985); *accord Hone vs. J.F. Shea Co.*, 46 Utah Adv. Rep. 18, 728 P.2d 1008, 1012 (Utah 1986).

There was evidence that Petitioner’s husband died at work unexpectedly without any forewarning from either an idiopathic fall or a heart attack that was caused or triggered by

exertion due to the unusual and extraordinary lifting of freight or moving freight. The only medical opinion submitted was an autopsy which suggested that exertions from work can trigger a heart attack in a victim, such as Bill, who had 60% and 90% blockage in two of his three main arteries. The employer never submitted any medical evidence to the contrary, but denied causation. The ALJ refused to take any testimony regarding accident, pre-existing condition, legal causation or the amount of physical exertion or stress or any facts that would have shown this case qualified as extraordinary exertion. The ALJ refused to transfer that evidence to a medical panel to determine medical causation of the fall or heart attack. Where the evidence of a causal connection between the work-related event and the injury is uncertain or highly technical, and is disputed, the ALJ's failure to refer the case to a medical panel is an abuse of discretion which substantially prejudiced Linda Hymas.

**B. The ALJ failed to continue the case or order an impartial medical evaluation.**

Again, the ALJ abused her discretion when she refused, in a sensitive death case with complicated issues, to continue the case for employment of a medical director or medical consultant to evaluate the medical evidence. See UCA § 34A-2-601(d). Section 601 provides adequate procedures to protect both parties' due process rights. In fact, the employer normally asks for an independent medical examination on the victim. Because there was an autopsy in this case, with no cardiac physician accompanying the autopsy when it was conducted, there should have been an independent specialist who was qualified to determine what contributed to the heart attack. Mrs. Hymas tried to get Dr. Strong to do so,

but he refused. (R052). Dr. Leis, who performed the autopsy, had no physical exertion facts. (R106-3A). The ALJ did not hire a medical evaluation herself nor utilize a medical expert or seek the expertise of a medical panel and violated her own rules, which substantially prejudiced Linda Hymas. Thus, the decision must be overturned and the case remanded to the Industrial Commission for further proceedings.

C. Linda Hymas was entitled to due process and a full evidentiary hearing.

Rule 602-2-1(c)(4) of the Administrative Rules involving the Labor Commission requires the employer to file medical evidence supporting a denial of medical causation:

“When liability is denied based upon medical issues, copies of all available medical reports sufficient to support the denial of liability shall be filed with the answer.”

In this case, the employer, SOS and Hyclone, denied the medical issues regarding medical causation, but they did not file any medical reports rebutting causation.

Rule 602-2-1(I)(2) requires a hearing and specifically states a hearing can only be avoided in two instances, by default or waiver:

“Judgment may be entered without a hearing **after default** is entered or upon stipulation and **waiver of a hearing** by the parties.”

In this case, Linda Hymas was not in default, nor did she stipulate to waive the hearing. She was entitled as a matter of law to prove a work related accident, legal causation and medical causation with the witnesses present. Rule 602-2-1(I)(7) indicates that,

“Requests for continuance may be granted or denied at the discretion of the administrative law judge for good cause shown.” Good cause was shown since the medical exhibit lacked Dr. Strong’s records, there was a lack of Logan Regional Hospital records, as well as additional expert medical evidence to support the autopsy report that exertions at work could have triggered or contributed to the heart attack. In addition, when Linda filed a Motion for Review under Rule 602-2-1(M)(1), it states the ALJ **shall**: “Reopen the case and enter a Supplemental Order after holding such further hearing and receiving such further evidence as may be deemed necessary.” (emphasis added) Certainly, a new hearing and receiving additional medical evidence regarding medical causation was necessary in this case and should have been allowed. Instead, the Motion for Review was basically denied without reopening the case or receiving any further evidence.

Lastly, Rule 602-2-2(C) gives the ALJ authority to authorize an injured worker to be examined by another physician for the purpose of obtaining a further medical examination or evaluation pertaining to the medical issues involved, particularly where:

- “1. The treating physician has failed or refused to give an impairment rating, (See R052), and/or
2. A substantial injustice may occur without such further evaluation.”

In this case where the treating physician, Dr. Strong, refused to cooperate with Linda Hymas, refused to give any indication as to whether medical causation existed between the work exertions and the heart attack, and where his records were not even in the medical

exhibit, it was an abuse of discretion by the ALJ to refuse to allow Mrs. Hymas to obtain a report from another physician, which created a substantial injustice.

Basically, the ALJ deprived Linda Hymas of the opportunity for a fair hearing, to present evidence, to prove legal causation as well as medical causation. The ALJ abused her discretion in not ordering or allowing a cardiologist to review the case or to do an independent medical exam, or allowing a medical consultant hired by the ALJ to review the case, or submitting all of the evidence to a medical panel as mandatorily required in Rule 602-2-2.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT 1. APPELLATE REVIEW STANDARD**

The entire purposes of the Worker's Compensation Act is not only to secure compensation to an injured employee, or those dependent upon one killed by accident, but to relieve society of the care and support of the victims of industrial accidents. *Reteuna vs. Industrial Commission*, 55 Utah 258, 185 P.535 (Utah 1919). The purpose of the Act was to eliminate litigation and place on business the burden of caring for injured employees, or, when killed, their dependents. *Park Utah Consol. Mines Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 84 Utah 481, 36 P.2d 979 (Utah 1934). This new and wider remedy for victims of industrial accidents in a new tribunal for administration of such a remedy is considered a beneficent law passed to protect employees and their dependents, and the act should be liberally

construed to effectuate its purposes. See *Ogden Iron Works vs. Industrial Commission*, 102 Utah 492, 132 P.2d 376 (Utah 1942). Linda Hymas has no retirement benefits or life insurance on Bill's life. She suffers with cancer. She needs the worker's compensation funds to stay off poverty. There is nothing in the Administrative Rules or Worker's Compensation Act which requires the ALJ to rush to a decision, and cut the Petitioner off without allowing her an opportunity to at least prove her case.

Appellate review of an ALJ order is governed by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4) which states:

"The Appellate Court should grant relief, only if, on the basis of the agencies record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

...

- (c) The agency has not decided all of the issues requiring resolution;
- (d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;
- (e) The agency has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision making process, or has failed to follow prescribed procedure;

...

- (g) The agency action is based upon a determination of fact made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

- (h) The agency action is:

- (i) an abuse of the discretion delegated to the agency by statute;
  - (ii) contrary to a rule of the agency;
  - (iii) contrary to the agency's prior practice, unless the agency justifies the inconsistency by giving facts and reasons that demonstrate a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency; or
  - (iv) otherwise arbitrary or capricious."

The next points in this Appellate Brief will prove that the ALJ failed to follow her own procedures, never ruled on several issues, never followed the

applicable statutes and abused her discretion or acted arbitrary and capricious to Linda Hymas' substantial prejudice.

**POINT 2. THE ALJ JUDGE COMMITTED AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION WHEN SHE FAILED TO RULE ON SEVERAL ISSUES, THEN FAILED TO SUBMIT TO A MEDICAL PANEL THE MEDICAL CAUSATION ISSUE, THUS SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICING LINDA HYMAS' CASE.**

Rule 602-2-2, of the Administrative Rules on utilizing a medical panel, mandatorily required the ALJ to submit significant medical issues, particularly regarding medical causation of Bill's heart attack to the medical panel. The relevant rule states:

**"A panel will be utilized by the Administrative Law Judge where one or more significant medical issues may be involved. Significant medical issues are involved when there are: 1) Conflicting medical opinions related to causation of injury or disease..."**

Medical causation of an internal failure, such as a heart attack, has always been a significant medical issue requiring transmittal to the medical panel as a matter of law. See *Willardson v. Industrial Commission*, 904 P.2d 671; 275 Ut. Adv. Rep. 3; 1995Utah Lexis 60 discussed more fully on page 23 and 24 in this Brief.

There are several cases in Utah which hold that failure to submit medical causation to the medical panel is an abuse of discretion. In *Price River Coal Co. v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 731 P.2d, 1079; 49 Utah Adv. Rep. 27; 1986 Utah Lexis 937 (Supreme Court of Utah, December 31, 1986) (involving a husband who died on the job as a result of a

heart attack) the Court held in footnote 1, head note 6, page 1082, as follows:

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