2007

Linda Lee Hymas v. Utah Labor Commission: SOS Staffing/Hyclone and/or Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no error by the Commission in denying Ms. Hymas' claim for dependency death benefits as a result of the death of her husband. Ms. Hymas failed to establish, as is her burden, that Mr. Hymas' death was medically caused by stress, strain or exertion from his work with SOS Staffing. Since she failed to establish this prima facie burden, there was no need for the ALJ to evaluate the other elements necessary to establish compensability. It also was not error for the ALJ to refuse to allow hearing testimony of lay witnesses as these witnesses were not qualified to provide a medical opinion regarding the cause of Mr. Hymas' death.

ARGUMENT²

POINT 1: THERE WAS NO ERROR BY THE COMMISSION IN DENYING DEATH BENEFITS SINCE MS. HYMAS FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING MEDICAL CAUSATION.

Ms. Hymas presents a plethora of arguments challenging the ALJ and Commission's ultimate ruling denying her benefits as a result of her husband's death under the Utah Worker's Compensation Act. She argues that the ALJ erred in (1) overlooking whether Mr. Hymas sustained an "accident"³; (2) presuming the existence of a pre-existing heart condition; (3) ignoring the issue of legal causation; (4) failing to remit this case to a medical panel; and, (5) refusing to allow Ms. Hymas to present witness testimony. Such arguments all lack legal merit.

Quite simply, Ms. Hymas' arguments each lack substantive merit since there was insufficient evidence submitted by Ms. Hymas to meet her burden of medical causation. Since this initial element was not established, the ALJ was not required to examine other statutory elements. See Lancaster v. Gilbert Development, 736 P.2d 237 (Utah 1987)

² Petitioner's first argument entitled "appellate review" does not provide any legal challenge to the Commission's Order Denying Motion for Review. Accordingly, Respondents have not addressed that argument given Ms. Hymas' improper briefing.

³ In any event, there is no dispute that Mr. Hymas did die by "accident" as his heart attack was certainly an unexpected or unintended event that resulted in his death. See Allen v. Industrial Comm'n *infra*; Price River Coal v. Industrial Comm'n, 731 P.2d 1079 (Utah 1986). However, such a finding does not complete the analysis since the more difficult question in this case was whether the claimant's death arose out of and in the course of employment under the medical causation standard.

(when court's ruling turns on issue of medical causation, other elements including legal causation need not be examined by court).

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (Utah "Workers Compensation Act"), the provision authorizing workers' compensation for industrial accidents provides as follows:

An employee described in Section 34A-2-104 who is injured and the dependents of each such employee who is killed by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, wherever such injury occurred, if the accident was not purposely self-inflicted, shall be paid . . . compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury or death . . . such amount for medical, nurse, and hospital services . . . [and] medicines; and in the case of death, the amount of funeral expenses.

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2006). This section has been interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court in Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15, 18, 22-23 (Utah 1986), to require a claimant to prove that he sustained an "accident", as well as establish medical and legal causation.

In Allen and its progeny, the Utah's Supreme Court has indicated that to demonstrate "medical causation" a Petitioner "must introduce evidence establishing that the stress, strain or exertion required by his or her occupation led to the resulting disability." Id. at 27. The court in Olsen v. Industrial Commission, 776 p.2d 937 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) evaluated whether a claimant had established that his heart attacks were related to his work duties. The Utah Court of Appeals found that there was competent comprehensive medical evidence upon which the Commission could rely in concluding that Petitioner's heart attacks were not medically related to his employment activities.

Likewise the court ruled in Landcaster that because there was insufficient medical evidence from a physician, stating with medical certainty that the claimant's heart attack was caused by work related factors, benefits were properly denied.

Ms. Hymas fails to recognize that because she failed to meet her initial burden of proving medical causation, there was no need to go forward with evaluating whether an "accident" occurred or whether legal causation was established. Moreover, no medical panel was warranted in this case since medical panels are only used when there are conflicting medical reports. See Utah Admin. Code R. 602-2-2; Roberts v. Labor Comm'n, 2006 UT App 403 (Utah Ct. App. 2006) ("[R]eferral to a medical panel is mandatory only where there is a medical controversy as evidenced through conflicting medical reports."). Such a medical controversy did not exist in this case.

The Commission properly recognized that Ms. Hymas failed to meet her burden of establishing a medical causal connection between her husband's death and his work. The Commission also recognized that testimony of certain witnesses may be relevant to other aspects of her claim, such as legal causation. However, the Commission correctly ruled that lay testimony is not competent to prove medical causation. Indeed, when the cause of death is related to an internal anatomy, **medical** evidence of causation is required. See Griffith v. Industrial Comm'n, 399 P.2d 204, 206 (Utah 1965); Harlan v. Industrial Comm'n, 15 Utah 2d 298, 391 P.2d 838 (1964); Cooper v. Industrial Comm'n, 15 Utah 2d 91, 387 P.2d 689 (1963). Ms. Hymas' attempt to submit testimony of non-expert

witnesses, including herself and her husband's co-workers, does not qualify as "competent" medical testimony. Hence the Commission correctly rejected the presentation of such evidence.

Additionally, Ms. Hymas asserts that, under the Act, all doubts must be resolved in favor of compensation. In doing so, Ms. Hymas attempts to shift the burden of proof to SOS, but to no avail. It is well settled that a claimant bears the burden of proof to establish the right to compensation. See Owens v. Labor Comm'n, 2004 UT App 352 (Utah Ct. App. 2004). To be entitled to benefits under the Act, a claimant must show, "by a preponderance of evidence, that a workplace accident occurred and that the accident was the legal and medical cause of the injury". McKesson Corp. v. Labor Comm'n, 2002 UT App 10, P 15, 41 P.3d 468. The requirement to establish medical causation "ensure[s] that there is a medically demonstrable causal link between the work-related exertions" and the injuries claimed. Allen v. Industrial Comm'n, 729 P.2d 15, 27 (Utah 1986). If the claimant cannot show a medical causal connection, compensation should be denied. Ms. Hymas failed to establish that the 2006 fatality at the work place was the medically caused by Mr. Hymas' work. The liberal construction of the Act does not relieve her of her burden.

POINT 2: THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW POST-HEARING EVIDENCE.

Ms. Hymas also argues that the Commission erred in refusing to allow her a continuance to collect and present additional medical evidence. We disagree. The Commission did not err in refusing to allow Ms. Hymas to present post-hearing evidence to establish medical causation. The court correctly ruled that Utah Administrative Code Rule 602-2-1F.6. requires parties to “diligently pursue” evidence so as to avoid delaying the adjudicative process. Likewise the Commission’s Rule 602-2-1(I)(7) states that on the date of the hearing “[p]arties are expected to be prepared.” Requests for continuances and reopening of cases may be granted at the discretion of the ALJ for good cause shown. However, the Commission correctly found that lack of preparation for a hearing shall not constitute good cause.

Ms. Hymas had more than six months between the time she filed her Application for Hearing and the date of the hearing to obtain medical evidence that would support her allegation that Mr. Hymas’s death was medically caused by his work at SOS Staffing. Nevertheless, she did not submit the necessary medical evidence at the hearing. Ms. Hymas certainly had a reasonable opportunity to present medical evidence to establish a medical causal connection between Mr. Hymas’ death and his work. A continuance to allow for additional “medical research” should not be allowed due to her failure to diligently investigate this matter.

POINT 3: THIS COURT SHOULD STRIKE EXHIBITS ATTACHED TO MS. HYMAS' APPELLATE BRIEF

Ms. Hymas attaches several documents to her Appellate Brief. The first is a letter of the Office of Medical Examiner. The second is a treatise from the New England Journal of Medicine. The third is a treatise from the American Medical Association. SOS asks the Court to strike these attachments as they were not made part of the evidentiary record below. Indeed, to attach such records and have the Court of Appeals now rely on them would violate SOS's right to due process.

While formal rules of evidence do not apply in administrative proceedings held before the Utah Labor Commission, Utah law allows parties of notice of proceedings and opportunity to present testimony and cross examine witnesses and meet such evidence as is presented at the proceeding. Utah's courts have held:

it is fundamental that in investigations such as the Industrial Commission is authorized to make, any party to a cause or proceeding is entitled to be advised of and afforded an opportunity to meet such evidence as the commission may consider and rely on in the making of its findings and decision. Unless such evidence is brought into the case, and in some lawful manner made a part of the record, it cannot be regarded as competent evidence, and must be excluded in determining the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings of the Industrial Commission.

Workers' Compensation Fund v. Industrial Comm'n, 761 P.2d 572, 575 (Utah Ct. App.

1988) *citing* Tintic Standard Mining Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 100 Utah 96, 110 P.2d

367, 369 (1941) ("the commission should not receive evidence on disputed matters where a hearing is held after the hearing is closed, since then a party adversely affected would

have no opportunity to meet such evidence"). In the Worker's Compensation Fund, the Court held that it was error for the Commission to rely on medical commentary which was not introduced at the evidentiary hearing and was not made part of the record.

Petitioner attempts to support her argument that a medical causal connection exists between the claimed industrial accident and her husband's work based upon these medical treatises. However, since these documents were not introduced at the evidentiary hearing and made part of the record, it is improper at this late juncture to allow such evidence into the record.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals should affirm the Commission's Order Affirming ALJ's Decision. Ms. Hymas has not met her burden to establish the necessary elements of compensability.